
   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 1 of 15 

In Municipal Council                   JUNE 14, 2011 
Special Meeting         7 P.M. 
 

MEMBERS PRESENT: President Frank B. Cook, Vice-President Walter J. Thibodeau.  
Councilors:  Kimberly Allard, William Bergevine, Peter Blais, Richard Conti, Cherie 
Felos, Shannon Heagney, Brian F. Kirby, Mark Cooper and Duff White. 

 
President Cook led the Council and the audience in the Salute to the Flag. 
 
City Clerk Elizabeth Shockroo read the call to the special meeting. 

Date:  June 8, 2011 

 
To:  Members of the Municipal Council 
 
From:  Frank Cook, Council President 
 
Councilors: 
 
By authority of Article 2, Section 2-7 (c) of the Attleboro Home Rule Charter, I hereby 
call a special meeting of the Municipal Council as follows: 
 
Date:  Tuesday, JUNE 14, 2011 
 
Time:  7 P.M. 
 
Place:  Council Chambers 
 
Purpose: To go into Executive Session to discuss the pending litigation relative to 

the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority  
 
cc:  Mayor Kevin J. Dumas 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Thibodeau, duly seconded to go into executive session for the 
purpose of discussion of the pending litigation relative to the Attleboro Redevelopment 
Authority. 
 
Voting on Roll Call—11 yeas-0 nays to go into executive session at 7:10 P.M. in the 
Annex Room located on the first floor of City Hall. 
 
President Cook invited all council members, City Clerk Elizabeth Shockroo, 
Administrative Assistant Linda Alger, City Solicitor Robert Mangiaratti, Mayor Kevin J. 
Dumas, and Attleboro Redevelopment Authority Members. 
 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 2 of 15 

President Cook announced that the Council would reconvene following the Executive 
Session. 
 
Executive Session Meeting in the Annex Room, 1st floor of City Hall: 

Council Members Present: President Frank B. Cook, Vice-President Walter J. Thibodeau.  
Councilors:  Kimberly Allard, William Bergevine, Peter Blais, Richard Conti, Cherie 
Felos, Shannon Heagney, Brian F. Kirby, Mark Cooper and Duff White. 

 
Also Present:  Mayor Kevin J. Dumas, City Solicitor Robert Mangiaratti, Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority Board of Directors, Benton Keene, Judy Robbins, Jackie 
Romaniecki and Rick Correira 
 
President Cook reminded councilors and those in attendance that whatever is discussed in 
this meeting cannot be repeated until the executive session minutes have been released. 
He stated that the purpose of the meeting is to discuss the pending litigation of the 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority. He noted that everyone should have received a copy 
of the ninety-four page report from the Civil Service Commission. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority just voted to 
authorize an appeal. He stated that around June 2, 2011 there were two decisions that 
came out relative to the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority. He stated that these 
decisions represent important changes in the status of the Attleboro Redevelopment 
Authority. He testified that he reported this to the Mayor and the President of the Council 
so that they are informed of the problems. He noted that Mayor Dumas and Council 
President Frank Cook suggested that the City Council be fully informed of these ongoing 
problems. He stated that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority, Council and Mayor 
have cooperated in working through these difficult problems. He went on to say that he 
was in favor of attending this meeting to answer questions and that the problems that the 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority is experiencing are not the product of those present 
today. He stated that the Mayor became a scapegoat and then the Council became the 
scapegoat when they supported the Mayor. He noted that there were very serious 
mistakes made by Mr. Milanoski with the support of his Board. He stated that this 
resulted in the insolvency of the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority. He discussed the 
history and when the Council because aware of the audit by H.U.D. which suggested that 
grant funds were misapplied for by the former Attleboro Redevelopment Authority. He 
stated that it became a spiral downward when the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority 
lost the eminent domain cases and did not anticipate the market value of these properties. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti discussed the Task Force that interviewed Mr. Milanoski and the 
Attleboro Redevelopment Board Mr. Volterra and records and found that the Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority was insolvent and that there was no way out. He stated that as 
the Council became aware of this, a sub-committee was appointed to look into this 
matter. He stated that as the city’s attorney, he feels that in this case, the Mayor and City 
Council are right, but that being right does not always produce the results that one would 
like. 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 3 of 15 

 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that the most troubling development is the Civil Service 
ruling of the reinstatement of Mr. Milanoski to his position. He stated that he has 
recommended to the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority that they file an appeal. He 
went on to say that this ruling is the worst decision and the most inappropriate decision 
that he has ever read. He stated that there is no money to pay the back pay or to pay a 
weekly salary. He stated that the Redevelopment Authority said from the beginning of the 
hearings that the Mayor and Council expressed dissatisfaction with Mr. Milanoski’s job 
performance, but that it was the lack of funds that led to his dismissal. He stated that 
there were ninety-three pages in the ruling describing how the Mayor did not like Mr. 
Milanoski. He testified that the appeal is filed under Chapter 30 A, Section 14. He stated 
that this will be reviewed by a Superior Court Judge on three grounds: (1) fundamental 
error of law; (2) unsupported by substantial evidence; and (3) that the decision is arbitrary 
and capricious. He stated that he will look for a reversal of the decision. He went on to 
say that the case showed that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority had absolutely no 
money and that the Civil Service ruling stated that the Attleboro Redevelopment 
Authority could get the money but that there was no evidence to support this. He 
discussed the article written by George Rhodes of The Sun Chronicle stating that the 
hearings officer disparaged the finance experience in the operation of a $100 million 
dollar corporation of Mayor Dumas and former Mayor Judith Robbins who ran the city 
for twenty years. He stated that this is arbitrary and capricious and that Mr. Milanoski has 
far less financial experience. He stated that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority will 
take a strong stand that the hearings officer disregarded the laws, facts and credible 
evidence of the witnesses. He explained that he feels very strongly about this case and 
that this will be the most important case in his office and will not be as expensive as the 
trial. He stated that this is an argument of law and not a trial.  
 
Attorney Mangiaratti discussed the Ebert Case and that Mrs. Ebert is a creditor of the 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority. He stated that the judgment awarded Mrs. Ebert is 
$200,000.00 and that her attorney, Michael McGahan, has tried vigorously to collect this 
money from the ARA by trying to stop the sale to MAR Seafood, collect money from the 
sale and various other things, all of which were defeated.  He stated Attorney McGahan 
filed an action of Mandais and the judgment was made by the court that the people have a 
Fifth Amendment right to be paid for land taken. He stated that the Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority has been trying to come up with a plan to see if the Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority can sell the lots or give the land back to Mrs. Ebert, but that 
the court appointed a receiver. He stated that throughout the court proceedings, the 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority has been straightforward and honest with the court. 
He stated that Mr. Peter Coleus of Fall River was appointed at the beginning of June as 
receiver to sell “unencumbered land” and from the proceeds, pay Mrs. Ebert and himself 
as the receiver. He stated that a list of the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority assets 
must be sent to the receiver. He testified that he will have to ask the court what it means 
by unencumbered assets. He discussed the Automatic Machine and Old Barn property 
and that these properties were purchased with funding from the FDA. He explained that 
the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority member Judith Robbins and Mayor Dumas held 
a conference call with the FDA (grant source who sponsored the purchase of land) and 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 4 of 15 

that they have an interest in the land that is encumbered. He stated that he encouraged the 
FDA to become involved in the process and explained that this is highly unusual for a 
governmental agency to be in receivership.  He testified that there have been some 
examples for a Redevelopment Authority (e.g., Springfield) for receivership due to 
financial problems. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti discussed the development of the law suit filed by Mr. Anderson 
and Mrs. Ebert claiming that their civil rights were violated and that it is not only the 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority but the City of Attleboro named in the lawsuit. He 
stated that a person cannot bring a civil rights claim until they have exhausted all their 
state entities. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that Superior Court Judges in general are now demonstrating 
impatience with the situation. He explained that Attleboro Redevelopment Authority and 
City have been trying to fix something which cannot be done because the mess is too big 
and the recession has prohibited selling off lots at any price. He stated that the court took 
this under advisement and would issue a decision within ninety days on the civil rights 
issue.  
 
Mayor Dumas stated that when he came before the Council in dealing with the issue of 
the Executive Director of the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority that it was clear (from 
the beginning) that the position of Executive Director would be funded for eighteen 
months with monies from the block grant. He noted that the position was funded for 
thirty-six months with block grant funds. He testified that as different types of state and 
federal agencies were having issues with the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority, it 
started one by one that there were problems. He stated that the $2.4 million dollars that 
was borrowed was not to be used to pay for salaries. He stated that the industrial business 
park was $4 million dollars in debt and had massive problems with the intermodal 
project. He noted that it is very important that this was stated from the beginning and he 
made his position known. He explained that the under 121B, the City is separate from the 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority and that the conclusion by the Civil Service 
Commission ruling that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority has money is false. He 
stated that the Ebert case is a massive problem as to what unencumbered property means 
and that causes a really big issue. He noted that it is a technical issue which basically 
means that a municipal lien is on the property even though there is a federal interest. He 
noted that under the Anderson civil rights law suit, Ebert was allowed to join. He stated 
that the City requested to be dismissed from the lawsuit but was denied. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti responded that that is correct. He stated that he would keep the 
Councilors informed with respect to those two cases.  
 
Attleboro Redevelopment Board Chairperson Judith Robbins stated that what she found 
most astonishing in the decision from the Civil Service Commissioner is that he did not 
accept the fact that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority was out of money. She stated 
that when she first became mayor, that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority went 
broke and came to her and said that they had no money and emptied everything on the 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 5 of 15 

City. She stated that there were very few activities at that time. She testified that she 
assigned the Executive Director to the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority and the 
position was placed under the City’s employee schedule. She went on to say that Mr. 
Milanoski threatened to quit if he could not make more money. She explained that when 
Mayor Dumas took over she is not sure what transpired, but that this position was placed 
under the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority and not the City.  She explained that Mr. 
Milanoski was paid substantially more money under the Attleboro Redevelopment 
Authority but that she never held any animosity towards Mr. Milanoski and that she was 
the person who hired him. She gave a history of her membership on the Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority and discussed the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority’s 
Memorandum of Agreement relative to the industrial business park and that the Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority had to keep the debt and that the City would market the 
industrial business park. She stated that the staff could no longer be paid out of the 
Industrial Business Park grant funds. She discussed the number of letters from state 
agencies stating that grant monies was ended. She discussed the copy of the 2008 Audit 
(Destiny Management) to look into the federal money of the Intermodal Transportation 
Center and that audit concluded that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority had 
misspent $1.1 million dollars of federal money and would probably have to return the 
funds. She stated that that another letter was received from the FDA stating that the 
recent requests for reimbursement were not approved and to stop sending in 
reimbursements. Ms. Robbins stated that because the FDA would not pay any 
reimbursements, Mr. Milanoski had ordered his staff to stop working on the ITC. The 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority Board questioned where would the money come 
from to pay salaries if work was not being performed on any projects. She stated that 
very shortly thereafter the Board determined that they only thing that could be done was 
to abolish the positions. She stated that she is very concerned about the Civil Service 
Commission decision to order the employees to return to positions that do not exist and 
pleased that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority is going to appeal.  
 
Ms. Robbins asked Attorney Mangiaratti if all of the creditors were paid would the 
receiver go away. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered yes. 
 
Ms. Robbins stated that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority is trying very hard to pay 
off all of its debts. She stated that she believes that the industrial business park is a viable 
entity and have had very interesting queries with the new marketing firm.  
 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority member Benton Keene asked if the Civil Service 
decision could have far reaching effects when employees are dismissed. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that many municipalities have problems with the Civil 
Service Commission. He stated that this is a very unusual circumstance.  
 
Mr. Keene asked if it was ever stated that Commissioner Bowman (who wrote the Civil 
Service decision) had a professional relationship with Mr. Milanoski. 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 6 of 15 

 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered that he did not believe so. 
 
Mr. Kirby asked if there would be another round of testimony or other witnesses for the 
Civil Service Commission. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered no, only in the form of documents. He discussed the 
Moore grant.  
 
Ms. Robbins noted that the Moore grant cannot be used for salaries. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that the court allows for supplemental information. He stated 
that there will not be another trial, only an appeal. 
 
Mr. Thibodeau stated that when he read through the Civil Service report it reminded him 
of his experience as a union employee and executive board member. He stated that the 
Civil Service Report is a very slanted, prejudicial report and that very seldom would the 
Commission side with an employer. He asked Attorney Mangiaratti, relative to the Ebert 
or Anderson land, if it would be feasible for the City to issue public bonds or stock for 
the property with a predetermined value on that stock. He stated that the stocks or bonds 
could grow and increase the land value. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that he does not know if cities could engage in the work of 
private banks but that the Attleboro Redevelopment is open to any ideas. He stated that 
the difficulty to sell the shares and is chilled by the fact that the mortgage is barely kept 
current. It was noted that the interest on the loan has been paid to the end of the year. 
 
Ms. Felos asked Attorney Mangiaratti in the Civil Service decisions how often is a vote 
unanimous. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that he does not know the answer, but feels that there is no 
particular value to a unanimous decision.  
 
Ms. Felos asked how long will the appeal take. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered about six months. 
 
Ms. Felos asked Attorney Mangiaratti what is the legal cost for the City (not going to 
hold Attorney Mangiaratti to a figure). 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered that he felt the cost would be $20,000.00 or less.  
 
Ms. Robbins stated that the attorney for Mr. Milanoski and Ms. Ross has stated that they 
are not interested in being paid or returned to their positions until the appeal is over. 
 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 7 of 15 

Attorney Mangiaratti explained that when the complaint is filed, that a stay would be 
filed and that there would be no objection from Mr. Milanoski or Ms. Ross. 
 
Mr. Conti discussed Chapter 121B relative to a city as an entity not being liable for the 
debts of housing authorities. He asked Attorney Mangiaratti to elaborate. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that a City is not liable for the debts of a redevelopment 
authority. He stated that redevelopment authorities are organized as a separate body. He 
discussed case law (Springfield case-Forbes and Wallace vs. Springfield Redevelopment 
Authority). He stated that the ruling was that a city is not liable for the debt of a housing 
authority. He went on to say that this is the fundamental premise for the city’s case.  
 
Mr. Conti asked if the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority could become bankrupt. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered yes and that there is a chapter specifically for 
governmental entities. He went on to state that he has been told that it has never been 
used in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  
 
Mr. Conti asked if the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority receiver does attach the 
Automated Machinery and the Old Barn, does the receiver act in the interest of the 
debtors. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered yes. 
 
Mr. Conti asked if the receiver is paid out of the proceeds of the sale.  
 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered yes. 
 
Mr. Conti asked what if the dissolution of the property does not equal money owed. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that then the case would go back to court. 
 
Mr. Conti asked if the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority returns the land (IBP and 
ITC) to the Bristol County Savings Bank, the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority would 
not have any holdings. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti noted that that is almost correct. He stated that there is a strip of 
land near the Swank project that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority owns that is not 
going to Stern Metal. He stated that there is another strip of land behind the highway 
yard, that was donated by Mantrose-Hauser and that land is not FTA sponsored. 
 
Mr. Conti asked that if the receiver still came up short, could the debt come to the city? 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that in his opinion the City should never be liable for the 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority, but cannot predict what the courts do coming down 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 8 of 15 

the line. He stated that it was appropriate for the Mayor to try to get this resolved and 
have the Council involved and try to make this work. 
 
Mayor Dumas asked if it possible for the City to back a loan. He stated that this would 
allow the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority to pay off the creditors and to protect the 
two urban renewal plans (IPB and ITC) that the City Council and two mayors still believe 
in.  
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that he believes the answer is yes. He stated that it would be 
the same vote that the Council would take as if it were a bond and would require a 2/3rds 
vote. He also noted that this would have to be reviewed by the bond counsel and 
hopefully the contingency honoring the guarantee would never come up and the City 
would not have to pay it back. 
 
Mr. Conti asked isn’t the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority in receivership? 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered yes, but that the City of Attleboro is not. He stated that 
what the Mayor has said is to let the City essentially guarantee a loan with the taxpayer’s 
money to bail out the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority. He noted that this is a change 
of course and may be a prudent change of course. 
 
Ms. Robbins stated that the industrial business park as an entity has one hundred and 
sixty acres of land with ninety buildable acres. She noted that at $50,000.00 per acre, it 
would be worth $4.5 million. She stated that at the present time the Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority has $4 million dollars in debt and that selling the property even 
at half price would help pay off the debt. 
 
Mr. Conti discussed the backing of a bond by the City and that this would have to be 
taken care of very soon due to the liquidation issue.  
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that there is some degree of urgency to explore this option. 
 
Mr. Conti stated that the only property that is in jeopardy is the ITC project and the 
industrial business park would be surrendered to Bristol County Savings Bank but that 
there could still be an industrial park. 
 
Ms. Robbins noted that someone could come in and rezone the land to residential. 
 
Mr. Cooper asked if a settlement could be re-negotiated relative to the Civil Service 
ruling. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered yes. He stated that no one has any idea of where the funds 
would come from and no one has asked him to initiate this negotiation. 
 
Mr. Blais discussed the Ebert and Anderson properties and asked how much is owed to 
the land owners. 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 9 of 15 

 
Mayor Dumas answered about $2.5 million dollars. 
 
Mr. Blais asked that if ordered to pay off the creditors, if the Council goes that route with 
the bank, would the City have to borrow an additional $2.5 million dollars? 
 
Ms. Robbins stated that this $2.5 million dollars is only guarantee and only if the City 
defaults. She stated that this money is not borrowed or loaned to the ARA. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti discussed his concern with borrowing $2.5 million dollars and how 
this could affect the ability of the City to borrow in the future. 
 
Mr. Blais asked if the city could take a long term bond. 
 
Mayor Dumas stated that he does not know. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that this could be researched with bond counsel if the 
Council requests. He stated that he is not sure as this is a complex bonding issue and does 
not want to speculate. 
 
Mr. Blais stated that he (also Mr. Thibodeau and Mr. Cook) were in favor of the 
industrial business park and the downtown project. He noted that both Mr. Anderson and 
Mr. Ebert were overpaid, but mistakes were made, but that they should be paid. He stated 
that that ship has sailed and what does the City do to keep the industrial business park 
and the downtown project going. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti discussed the bonding the $4 million dollars for the project. He 
stated that it would be cheaper in the long run to bond rather than borrow money.  
 
Mr. Blais reiterated that these land owners should be paid. 
 
Mayor Dumas explained that other assessors and professionals have said that the land 
values were not properly assessed by the Deputy Assessor and that property was taken for 
way too low an amount. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that this was a perfect storm. 
 
Mayor Dumas explained that it is important to note that the four Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority Board members have been working to do everything that they 
can to be able to work with the City and to think outside the box. He explained a recent 
development of a buyer for the land. He discussed two options (1) home rule petition and 
(2) a private buyer for thirty to forty acres. He stated that a decision must be made within 
sixteen days. He stated that tonight’s meeting is for the Council to share their concerns 
with the City Solicitor and to bring Councilors up to date. 
 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 10 of 15 

Attorney Mangiaratti asked if Mr. Blais’s concerns are shared by other members of the 
council. He stated that Mayor Dumas and Ms. Robbins have worked extremely hard to 
get this job down. He stated that part of the reason why this meeting is being held is that 
the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority is reaching a crisis point and needs to get things 
done quickly. He explained that by having the City borrow money may be the quickest 
and most direct route to put money in the pockets of the Attleboro Redevelopment 
Authority.  
 
Mayor Dumas stated that if the City is required to borrow money, there are time 
constraints relative to the Planning Board and Council approval and a public hearing is 
required. He went on to state that there is $2.4 million dollars in the “rainy day” fund. He 
stated that a 2/3rds vote of the Council would be required. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti agreed that this is an option.  
 
Ms. Robbins stated that there is about $2 million dollars that is not owed to the bank and 
that $358,000.00 is owed to the City. She discussed the promissory notes that do not have 
to be paid for five years. She explained that the court is only worried about the eminent 
land takings and the money owed to the land owners. 
 
President Cook stated that this could be at a critical stage. He stated that Mr. Blais has a 
very important point and that there is a quickly approaching a crisis situation. He 
discussed the length of time involved to borrow money. He asked if a straw poll could be 
taken so that discussions could be started. 
 
Mr. Conti felt that it is too soon and unfair to ask for this as he must have time to digest 
this information.  Ms. Felos agreed with Mr. Conti. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti explained that his marching orders have been to do everything 
possible to not have to get the City involved. He went on to state that he needs to get a 
sense if the Council would consider getting involved. 
 
Mr. White asked at what point does the City cross the line and get involved with the 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority and if the City would find itself on the hook for 
everything. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that this has happened already with the Civil Service 
Commission. He also referenced the motion that he argued last week and that this is 
already upon us. He stated that it could also happen again in another decision.  
 
Mr. White stated that some of the options that have been discussed clearly blows a hole 
right through 121B.  
 
Mayor Dumas stated that the City may not have a choice in the end and that the City 
needs to at least start thinking about what could happen. He noted that it may end up 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 11 of 15 

being the full responsibility of the City of Attleboro. He stated that the City has already 
been named a party to the Ebert and Anderson civil rights suits. 
 
Mr. White discussed the fact that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority has not won a 
decision yet. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered that this is not true, favorable decisions have been made. 
He stated that there is a risk that the City could be on the hook. He explained that at the 
end of the day, he is hoping for a good result. He stated that these projects were initiated 
for the benefit of the City. He stated that the Council may have to make a policy decision 
to determine if there is enough potential to put taxpayer’s money at risk. 
 
Mr. Blais stated that he believes he has a moral obligation because the Council did back 
this plan and thought that it was a good plan. He stated that he does not want to see 
citizens affected because he cannot morally stand up to something that he committed to.  
 
Mr. Kirby asked Attorney Mangiaratti if the Council goes forward with putting City 
funds into this project, does this action bring forward a connection between the City and 
the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority and also would this make the City liable?. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered no. He stated that the City already pays his legal bills and 
is supporting in some areas of the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority and that this does 
not mean that the City supports all areas. 
 
Ms. Robbins pointed out that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority has borrowed from 
the Bristol County Saving Bank but that this does not make the bank responsible for the 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority’s debt. She stated that the City would carefully state 
that this is a loan and not a gift. 
 
Ms. Heagney asked if the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority loses the Milanoski 
appeal, what the next step is. She stated that there is no position for Mr. Milanoski to 
come back to. 
 
Ms. Robbins stated that if Milanoski is brought back, she would have to tell him that he is 
the executive director and he would have to figure it out. 
 
Ms. Heagney stated that since the current Attleboro Redevelopment Authority Board has 
been overseeing the project, she has seen great results. She explained that she would not 
want to see funds going to salaries and would like to see it go towards construction. 
 
Ms. Robbins explained that this could not happen because one of the grants has been 
turned over to GATRA and that GATRA is performing the project oversight. She stated 
that GATRA has a very good reputation with the FTA and in the long run, there is no 
need for employees. 
 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 12 of 15 

Mayor Dumas stated that he and the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority Board has 
worked diligently with the Federal Transit, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, MBTA, 
MASSDOT for the last two years to get the intermodal transportation center project back 
on track. He stated that GATRA is finally getting the remainder of the contract (includes 
$1.6 million dollar bond) and none of the funds from this bond can be used for salaries. 
He stated if we were to pay salaries, the project would fall short. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that there is no answer relative to Mr. Milanoski’s pay if he 
were to come back. He stated that the Civil Service Hearings Officer did not know where 
the funds would come from.  
 
Mayor Dumas stated that it was very clear that the CFO (Mr. Milanoski) also knew this 
bond was not to be used for salaries. He stated after the employee’s positions were 
abolished, a freeze was placed on the bond. He stated that the Department of Revenue 
confirmed that this is the City’s money. He explained that if money is taken out of this 
kitty it throws it all off and that it has taken two years of hard work to rebuild the 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority’s credibility. He stated that the Civil Service 
Commission cannot require the City to use that bond money. 
 
Ms. Allard stated that council members have made a promise that the City would not 
accept the debt of Attleboro Redevelopment Authority. She stated that this is the last 
large piece of land and initially she was opposed to rezoning the land to an industrial 
business park. She stated that she is torn about borrowing the money as she has promised 
that the City would not incur the debt. She stated that taking money out of the 
stabilization fund may be necessary. She asked at what point does the taxpayer see the 
benefit. 
 
Mayor Dumas stated that if another urban renewal plan ever comes before the Council, 
he asked the Council to examine the sources of revenue vs. the sources of expense. He 
explained that if bad decisions are made because of false information, it ends up putting 
the project in jeopardy. He stated that the Council believed in the two urban renewal 
plans and that in the end, he believes there is a tax benefit, jobs, spin offs for other 
businesses. He stated that everyone is doing the very best that they can and that he wants 
everyone to grasp what the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority and he are dealing with. 
He explained that this meeting is necessary so that everyone understands the 
ramifications so that if needed, everyone is prepared. 
 
Ms. Allard stated that she is not prepared to take a straw poll and that she could not make 
a decision right now. 
 
Mayor Dumas stated that this is overwhelming but that he needs the Council to digest and 
understand this especially due to the civil law suit. He stated that if the City is required to 
pay, then it would be foolish not to have informed the Council to absorb what the court 
may do and think about the options. 
 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 13 of 15 

Ms. Robbins stated that the City should never accept the debt of the Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority. She stated that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority is not 
asking the City to accept the debt and that it is a loan and it is to be returned to the City. 
She stated that the land is very saleable and that there is $9 million dollars worth of land. 
 
Ms. Allard noted that she understands what Ms. Robbins is saying but when one is 
speaking to the general public, the feeling would be that the City bailed out the Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority.  
 
Ms. Robbins stated that the City may have bailed out the Attleboro Redevelopment 
Authority but not accepted the debt.  
 
Mayor Dumas stated that it is also important to note that sixteen days from today there 
may be a potential buyer. He discussed the three meeting dates (June 21, 23 and 28) and 
stated that if there is a possible sale, that he may have to meet again with the Council. He 
stated that he will do everything he can to come up to a purchase and sales agreement and 
to have this company purchase thirty to forty acres of industrial business park land and to 
defuse the situation relative to the receiver. 
 
President Cook noted that only four of the councilors had been on the Council when a 
decision was made to approve the industrial business park. He encouraged Councilors to 
go back and review the minutes. He explained that during the last couple of years, the 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority has been updating the Councilors on a regular basis. 
He stated that the project was presented as a win-win but that no one was unaware that a 
lobbying firm was hired to call Councilors and the Mayor to vote for the project. 
 
Mr. Thibodeau recognized the amount of work that the current Attleboro Redevelopment 
Authority members and the administration have done to get this situation resolved. He 
stated that he supports the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority.  He discussed the three 
different dates for decisions: six months for a civil service appeal decision; ninety days 
for the civil rights for Ebert and Anderson land; and sixteen days for the purchase of the 
thirty to forty acres. He asked if anything is done by the City before the civil service 
decision is made, could this be used against the City in the civil service decision or the 
civil rights cases. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that this is not a question that he can answer. He stated that 
everything in the civil service case would probably be based on the record and not 
considered by the court. He stated that relative to the civil rights, the court could use this 
against the City. He discussed the time frame of the receiver and how quickly the receiver 
could act to dismantle the ITC project.  
 
Mayor Dumas asked everyone to think and realize what the City and the Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority is up against. 
 
Mr. Conti stated that Ms. Robbins makes the best case when she stated that Mr. 
Milanoski should show up for work and fix this mess. He asked what authority does the 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 14 of 15 

Civil Service Commission have that mandates the payment of $270,000.00 to Mr. 
Milanoski and Ms. Ross. 
 
Attorney Mangiaratti stated that this is a judgment against the Attleboro Redevelopment 
Authority to pay. He stated that if there is judgment against the City of Attleboro, it has 
to be paid. 
 
Mr. Conti stated that his telephone has been ringing off the hook for two weeks. He stated 
that one person asked why the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority has to do what the 
Civil Service Commission said. He stated that he now understands that Mr. Milanoski 
would have to seek a judgment from the court.  
 
Attorney Mangiaratti answered yes. He noted that this is only speculative, but it is likely 
there is a judgment against the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority and there could be a 
judgment against the City. He stated that this is a highly unusual situation.  
 
Mr. Conti discussed the valuation effect on the rest of the land if the City were to sell the 
land at a reduced price. He stated this would have an impact on the loan on the land with 
the Bristol County Savings Bank. 
 
Mayor Dumas stated that the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority sold MAR Seafood the 
industrial business park land at $340,000.00 and that the Deputy Assessor had the land 
assessed at $701,000.00. He stated that it would be irresponsible for the Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority to entertain a value of the land that would place the property in 
further jeopardy and that has been taken into account.  
 
Attleboro Redevelopment Authority member Richard Correira stated that he has heard all 
of the borrowing issues and asked what does it mean to the entire City to lose the 
industrial business park and the intermodal transportation center and the Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority? He asked that Councilors try and put this into perspective 
before they leave this meeting. 
 
Ms. Allard stated that this is the last big parcel of land and that this is crucial to the future 
of Attleboro. She discussed the fact if Mr. Milanoski comes back to work and that it has 
taken the Attleboro Redevelopment Authority Board members two years to work with the 
state agencies to get everyone back on board.  
 
Ms. Robbins stated that if Mr. Milanoski were to come back it would take five minutes to 
lose everything as the funding agencies would disappear if Mr. Milanoski comes back.  
She asked what would happen if the City wanted another urban renewal project and the 
present Attleboro Redevelopment Authority were to go bankrupt. She asked if that would 
that bring back all of the debt. 
 
Ms. Heagney noted that the present Attleboro Redevelopment Authority Board has done 
a great deal of work 
 



   
Municipal Council Minutes—Executive Session June 14, 2011                                     Page 15 of 15 

Attorney Mangiaratti stated that Ms. Robbins does all of this work at no pay. 
 
President Cook thanked Attorney Mangiaratti and the Mayor and Attleboro 
Redevelopment Authority Board of Directors for taking the time to meet with councilors. 
He reminded everyone not to discuss this matter on the outside (via email, telephone, 
etc.) He suggested that if anyone wants to research the history of the urban plans to feel 
free to do so. He asked everyone to give this a great deal of thought. 
 
A motion was made and duly seconded to adjourn the executive session at 9:28 P.M. 
 
Voted on Roll Call—11 yeas—0 nays to go out of executive session at 9:28. P.M. 
 
The Council exited the executive session in the Annex Room and the meeting was called 
back to order at 9:35 P.M. President Cook stated that no votes were taken in executive 
session.  It was noted that the ARA would not be making a presentation to the Council 
this evening. 
 
VOTED:  TO ADJOURN at 9:36 P.M. 
 
 
A TRUE COPY  
ATTEST:        

  City Clerk/Clerk of the Council 
 
 
MINUTES APPROVED BY COUNCIL:    
       (DATE) 
 


